

A Service of



Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre for Economics

Cuadro Sáez, Lucía; Fratzscher, Marcel; Thimann, Christian

Working Paper The transmission of emerging market shocks to global equity markets

ECB Working Paper, No. 724

Provided in Cooperation with: European Central Bank (ECB)

Suggested Citation: Cuadro Sáez, Lucía; Fratzscher, Marcel; Thimann, Christian (2007) : The transmission of emerging market shocks to global equity markets, ECB Working Paper, No. 724, European Central Bank (ECB), Frankfurt a. M.

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/153158

Standard-Nutzungsbedingungen:

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.

Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.



WWW.ECONSTOR.EU



WORKING PAPER SERIES NO 724 / FEBRUARY 2007

THE TRANSMISSION OF EMERGING MARKET SHOCKS TO GLOBAL EQUITY MARKETS

by Lucía Cuadro Sáez, Marcel Fratzscher and Christian Thimann





NO 724 / FEBRUARY 2007

THE TRANSMISSION OF EMERGING MARKET SHOCKS TO GLOBAL EQUITY MARKETS '

> by Lucía Cuadro Sáez², Marcel Fratzscher³ and Christian Thimann⁴

This paper can be downloaded without charge from http://www.ecb.int or from the Social Science Research Network electronic library at http://ssrn.com/abstract_id=959220.





In 2007 all ECB publications feature a motif taken from the €20 banknote.



 Banco de España, c/ Alcalá 48, 28014 Madrid, Spain; e-mail: lucia.cuadro@bde.es.At the time of writing this paper the author was on secondment at the European Central Bank.
 Corresponding author: European Central Bank, Kaiserstrasse 29, 60311 Frankfurt am Main, Germany; e-mail: Marcel.Fratzscher@ecb.int
 European Central Bank, Kaiserstrasse 29, 60311 Frankfurt am Main, Germany;e-mail: Christian.Thimann@ecb.int

© European Central Bank, 2007

Address Kaiserstrasse 29 60311 Frankfurt am Main, Germany

Postal address Postfach 16 03 19 60066 Frankfurt am Main, Germany

Telephone +49 69 1344 0

Internet http://www.ecb.int

Fax +49 69 1344 6000

Telex 411 144 ecb d

All rights reserved.

Any reproduction, publication and reprint in the form of a different publication, whether printed or produced electronically, in whole or in part, is permitted only with the explicit written authorisation of the ECB or the author(s).

The views expressed in this paper do not necessarily reflect those of the European Central Bank.

The statement of purpose for the ECB Working Paper Series is available from the ECB website, http://www.ecb.int.

ISSN 1561-0810 (print) ISSN 1725-2806 (online)

CONTENTS

Abstract	4
Non-technical summary	5
1. Introduction	7
2. Related literature	9
3. The data	- 11
4. Empirical results	14
4.1 Methodology	14
4.2 Benchmark results	16
5. Sensitivity	19
5.1 Economic relevance of EMEs for	
global equity markets	19
5.2 Extensions and robustness	21
6. Conclusions	23
References	24
Appendix	
Annex 1 – Data description and examples	27
Figures and tables	28
European Central Bank Working Paper Series	40

3

Abstract

The paper analyses whether, and to what extent, emerging market economies (EMEs) have systemic importance for global financial markets, above and beyond their influence during crises episodes. Using a novel database of exogenous economic and political shocks for 14 systematically relevant EMEs, we find that EME shocks not only have a statistically but also economically significant impact on global equity markets. The economic significance of EME shocks is in particular underlined by their remarkably persistent effects over time. Importantly, EMEs are found to influence global equity markets about just as much in "good" times as in "bad" times, i.e. during crises or periods of financial turbulence. Finally, we detect a large degree of heterogeneity in the transmission of EME shocks to individual countries' equity markets, stressing the different degrees of financial exposure, which is relatively higher for European equity markets.

JEL No.: F36; F30; G15.

Keywords: global financial markets; equity markets; transmission; financial integration; shocks; news; emerging market economies; mature economics; euro area; United States.

Non-technical summary

Do emerging market economies (EMEs) matter for global and mature economies' financial markets? There is a large literature showing that EMEs indeed exert a significant effect on global financial markets during financial crisis. However, there have been few major crises in emerging markets since 1998; yet at the same time, emerging markets' assets have become an increasingly important global asset class over the past decade. Emerging markets have, moreover, developed into an ever more relevant driver of global economic growth.

The paper asks whether, and to what extent, EMEs have systemic importance for global financial markets, above and beyond their influence during crises episodes. Such an analysis is complicated by an identification problem, i.e. the difficulty to distinguish financial market developments in emerging markets from those in mature economies. We use a novel database that identifies shocks that are truly idiosyncratic and specific to EMEs. These shocks comprise a set of economic and political events in 14 systemically relevant EMEs over the period 2000-2004 and are extracted from "exogenous" sources. More specifically, the database not only covers negative events that drive markets lower, but also "positive" news that e.g. indicate better than expected economic growth or the announcement of important economic reforms.

Using daily data over the period 2000-2004, we analyze the transmission of these shocks from the 14 EMEs to 15 mature economies' equity markets – covering the 12 euro area countries, the United States, Japan and the UK – plus global equity market returns, as well as the intra-regional and extra-regional spillover across EMEs.

The empirical analysis yields a number of striking findings. Most importantly, we find that, on a daily frequency, EME shocks have a significant and sizeable effect, inducing on average a 0.3% change in global equity returns on the day a shock occurs, and rising to around 0.5% cumulated after 5 days. Second, our analysis shows that EME-specific shocks are so important overall for global equity returns that their effects are highly persistent over time. While it is difficult to quantify precisely the overall explanatory power of the EME shocks for global equity markets, in particular the persistence of the effects stresses the economic relevance and systemic importance of emerging markets for global equity markets.

Working Paper Series No 724 February 2007 A third key finding of the paper is that global equity markets react almost as strongly to positive EME news as to negative news, with this result being robust across EMEs and over time. This underlines that EMEs matter for global financial markets not only during crises or other less favorable episodes, but that investors in mature economies also share the gains from positive developments in EMEs. This may reflect the growing economic integration of EMEs in the world economy and their rising trade and financial linkages with mature economies. Finally, there are a number of intriguing cross-country differences: although EME equity markets generally react more strongly to shocks in other EMEs of the same region, mature economies overall react mostly more strongly to EME shocks than emerging markets from other regions.

Overall, the findings of the paper emphasize the emergence and relevance of EMEs for global and in particular mature economies' financial markets. This is an important result, and constitutes the intended contribution of the paper to the literature underlining that emerging markets can no longer be considered as a minor player in global financial markets that matter only in times of crisis or financial market turbulence. Given the importance and ongoing increase of cross-border financial investment as a transmission channel and the rapid growth of EMEs as an asset class, the results suggest that EMEs are likely to continue becoming an even more important factor for the determination of global asset prices in the years to come.

1. Introduction

Do emerging market economies (EMEs) matter for global and mature economies' financial markets? The general perception is that EMEs are relevant for global financial markets mainly when they experience financial crises, thus inducing an abrupt portfolio rebalancing that also affects investment decisions and thus returns in markets of mature economies. In fact, there is a large literature focusing on and indeed finding evidence for the international transmission of EME shocks and for contagion during crises in emerging markets, foremost the Latin American crises of 1994-95 the Asian crisis of 1997-98 and the Russian default of August 1998 (see e.g. Kaminsky and Schmukler 1999, Baig and Goldfajn 1998, Rigobon 2002, Wongswan 2003).

However, there have been no major crises in systematically relevant emerging markets since 1998 – apart from the Turkish and Argentine crises of 2000 and 2001, which arguably have had little systemic repercussions for global financial markets (Krueger 2002, Fischer 2002, and Hall and Taylor 2002). At the same time, emerging markets' assets have become an increasingly important asset class over the past decade, in particular also for investors in mature economies including the United States and Europe. Emerging markets have, moreover, developed into an ever more relevant driver of global economic growth, as for instance much of global growth in the last few years being attributable to economies in Emerging Asia and also those in Latin America and Emerging Europe. And finally, EMEs are increasingly intertwined with mature economies via FDI and the relocation of production.

The present paper asks whether, and to what extent, EMEs have systemic importance for global financial markets, above and beyond their influence during crises episodes. Such an analysis is complicated by an identification problem, i.e. the difficulty to distinguish financial market developments in emerging markets from those in mature economies. We use a novel database of shocks that are truly idiosyncratic and specific to EMEs. These shocks comprise a set of economic and political events in 14 systemically relevant EMEs over the period 2000-2004. They are based on and extracted from "exogenous" sources, i.e. on International Finance Corporation reports (factbooks, quarterly reviews, and monthly reviews of emerging markets, among others), as well as Bekaert and Harvey (1998, 2004) and various IMF reports. The news reported in these sources have been selected based on their country-specific nature and overall economic and political importance, and *not* based on their financial market impact. More specifically, the database comprises a broad range of important political and economic events such as announcements of new regulations, monetary and fiscal policy announcements, the default of a financial institution or the election or resignation of politicians in individual EMEs. The database not only covers negative events that drive markets lower, but also "positive" news that e.g. indicate better than expected economic growth or the announcement of important economic reforms. Given the focus on important idiosyncratic events in EMEs, the number of identified shocks is limited to, on average, about 6 to 7 shocks per emerging market per year.

Using daily data over the period 2000-2004, we analyze the transmission of these shocks from the 14 EMEs to 15 mature economies' equity markets – covering the 12 euro area countries, the United States, Japan and the UK – plus global equity market returns, as well as the intra-regional and extra-regional spillover across EMEs. Thus the analysis based on such identified EME shocks allows a very rich analysis of the transmission of different types of shocks, and during tranquil rather than only crises periods.

The empirical analysis yields a number of striking findings. A first revealing stylized fact is that there is a strong correlation between global equity returns and EME shocks even when taking a medium-term perspective: the correlation coefficient between quarterly global equity returns and the net sum of all EME shocks during that quarter is as high as 70%. While this obviously does not necessarily imply causality, it underlines that developments in EMEs strongly co-move with those in global equity markets. Turning to the issue of transmission, i.e. causality, we find that, on a daily frequency, EME shocks have a significant and sizeable effect, inducing on average a 0.3% change in global equity returns on the day a shock occurs, and rising to around 0.5% cumulated after 5 days.

Second, our analysis shows that EME-specific shocks are so important overall for global equity returns that their effect is still statistically significant after several weeks. While it is difficult to quantify precisely the overall explanatory power of the EME shocks for global equity markets, in particular the persistence of the effects stresses the economic relevance and systemic importance of emerging markets for global equity markets.

A third key finding of the paper is that global equity markets react almost as strongly to positive EME news as to negative news, with this result being robust across EMEs and over time. This underlines that EMEs matter for global financial markets not only during crises or other less favorable episodes, but that investors in mature economies also share the gains from positive developments in EMEs.

Finally, there are a number of intriguing cross-country differences: although EME equity markets generally react more strongly to shocks in other EMEs of the same region, mature economies overall react mostly more strongly to EME shocks than emerging markets from other regions. Among mature economies, US equity returns respond much more to shocks in Latin America than to those in Emerging European and Asian EMEs, while Japanese markets are most sensitive to Asian EMEs. By contrast, euro area and UK markets not only show the strongest exposure and overall reaction to EME shocks, but they appear to be roughly equally sensitive to shocks from all the three EME regions of Asia, Emerging Europe and Latin America.

Overall, the findings of the paper emphasize the emergence and relevance of EMEs for global and in particular mature economies' financial markets. This reflects the growing economic integration of EMEs in the world economy and their rising trade and financial linkages with mature economies. This is an important result, and constitutes the intended contribution of the paper to the literature, as it underlines that emerging markets can no longer be considered as a minor player in global financial markets that matter only in times of crisis or financial market turbulence. Given the importance and ongoing increase of cross-border financial investment as a transmission channel and the rapid growth of EMEs as an asset class, the results suggest that EMEs are likely to continue becoming an even more important factor for the determination of global asset prices in the years to come.

The paper is organized as follows. We start with a brief review of related literature in section 2, before proceeding to a detailed presentation and some stylized facts of our dataset in section 3. Section 4 presents the empirical methodology as well as the benchmark empirical results for the transmission of EME shocks. Section 5 then discusses various extensions to the benchmark model and several robustness tests. Section 6 concludes.

2. Related Literature

The empirical literature has pointed towards a rapidly increasing degree of financial market integration, at least over the past decade. In the early 1990s, most evidence pointed towards no or little market integration, as shown e.g. by King et al. (1994) who find evidence against the null hypothesis of integrated capital markets, or Bekaert and Campbell (1995) who only find a partial integration of equity markets, in particular of EMEs, based on an international CAPM modeling framework. However, in recent years the evidence on financial integration has changed. For instance, Kim et

al. (2005) find that the increase in stock market integration in Europe over the period 1999-2003 has been significantly driven in part, by macroeconomic convergence associated with European Economic and Monetary Union. In addition, Albuquerque et al. (2005) point out that increased market integration leads to a greater role for worldwide sources of risk.

For the context of the present paper, we are particularly interested in the evidence of financial integration and interdependence of emerging markets. Much of the focus on EMEs in this context over the past decade has been on crises and contagion in and their impact on mature economies. The definition of contagion is not unanimous and rather controversial. Karolyi (2003) observes that the perception of market contagion is not always consistent with the empirical evidence. Along these lines, some researchers define contagion as an increase in the degree of interdependence, and find that little of such an increase has taken place in financial crises of the 1990s (Forbes and Rigobon, 2002). By contrast, focusing on the channels of contagion, Kaminsky and Reinhart (2002) find that financial turbulence in Brazil, Russia, and Thailand in the late 1990s spread globally when it affected asset markets in one or more of the world's financial centers.

Similarly, Kaminsky and Schmukler (1999) analyze the sources of the largest daily swings in markets during the Asian crisis by testing the impact of news on daily returns, and show that large swings affect local and international markets due to herding behavior. In the same vein, Baig and Goldfajn (1998) test for contagion during the Asian crisis and suggest that there exist discernible patterns of contagion during periods of financial market instability when market participants tend to move together across a set of countries. More recently, Rigobon (2002) supports the idea that the transmission of shocks was intensified during the Russian and the Asian crises, as well as Cappiello et al. (2005) who find that co-movements in equity returns tend to increase significantly during crises.

Concerning the speed of the transmission, the general consensus is that the transmission occurs very rapidly and is intensified during crisis periods, as shown in Ederington and Lee (1993), Fleming and Remolona (1999), and Andersen et al. (2003). These findings are in line with Ehrmann, Fratzscher and Rigobon (2005) who find that there are substantial international spillovers, and that the international propagation of shocks is strengthened in times of recession.

A second important strand relevant for the present paper is the transmission of macroeconomic shocks. The key argument here is that asset prices are determined simultaneously and thus it is difficult to identify which individual markets are the

drivers of global markets. Several studies have therefore taken macroeconomic announcements or news to identify shocks, and to analyze their transmission. The most frequent approach in the literature has been to study the impact of US and/or other developed market economies news on global financial markets. Canova (2005) find that US monetary shocks produce significant fluctuations in Latin America, but real demand and supply shocks do not. Wongswan (2003) finds a large and significant association between emerging-economy equity volatility and trading volume and developed-economy macroeconomic announcements at short-time horizons. Other studies focusing on the impact of US news on asset prices and foreign exchange rates include Andersen et al. (2003), Miniane and Rogers (2003) and Ehrmann and Fratzscher (2004). For instance, Andersen et al. (2003) analyze the response of the US market on exchange rates and find that the markets react in an asymmetric fashion to good and bad news, since bad news cause a greater impact than good news.

A third strand relevant for the present paper focuses on the role of financial and real integration as a determinant of the financial transmission process. For instance, considering the linkages among financial markets, Dungey and Martin (2006) provide evidence that cross market linkages played a key role during the Asian crisis. In this sense, the consensus in the literature is that trade and financial channels are important factors in determining how crises are transmitted internationally (Forbes 2004, Eichengreen et al. 1996, Glick and Rose 1999, Forbes and Chinn 2004). Focusing on the US during tranquil times, Ehrmann and Fratzscher (2006) link the strength of the transmission of US monetary policy shocks to the underlying asset holdings and find that the degree of global integration of countries is a key determinant for the transmission process.

In summary, the literature has so far primarily concentrated on measuring the degree of integration of EMEs into global financial markets or generally on how various EMEs respond to external and internal shocks. As to the relevance of EMEs for global financial markets, the focus has been on crisis periods and on contagion issues. To our knowledge, there is no systematic work so far assessing how important EMEs are as drivers of global financial markets overall, and not only during crises episodes. The analysis of this issue constitutes the aim of the present paper and its intended contribution to the literature.

3. The Data

A key difficulty with every type of analysis of financial market linkages is identification: as asset prices are determined simultaneously, with shocks often triggering reactions of several asset prices within minutes, it is difficult to identify the source of asset price movements and the corresponding direction of causality.

We solve this identification issue by using mostly purely exogenous events occurring in EMEs. The list of events for each of the 14 EMEs mostly comes from reports by the International Finance Corporation (IFC) and the IMF, which have partly been collected and summarized by Bekaert and Harvey (1998, 2004). In most cases these databases do not list the exact day, so that we use newswire services to attribute each of the events to that particular day when it occurred and was first reported.

We believe that using these sources helps mitigate the identification problem as they are reliable and, importantly, the news reported in these sources have been selected based on their country-specific nature and overall economic and political importance, and *not* based on their financial market impact. This selection criterion implies that these news are largely exogenous and specific to the identified EMEs. Given the focus on important idiosyncratic events in EMEs, the number of identified shocks is limited to, on average, only about 6 to 7 shocks per emerging market per year.

Our database includes economic and political news, and also not only covers negative events, but also "positive" news that e.g. indicate better than expected economic growth or the announcement of important economic reforms. The shocks to emerging market *j* at time *t* are coded as follows:

$$S_{jt} = \begin{cases} 1 & positive \ shock \\ 0 & no \ shock \\ -1 & negative \ shock \end{cases}$$

Annex 1 provides an overview and some specific examples of our database for the case of Argentina. The news include events such as announcements of new regulations, monetary and fiscal policy announcements, the collapse of a financial institution or the election or resignation of a politician in individual EMEs.

It should be stressed again that the "exogeneity" of the events, or shocks, captured by the IFC/IMF database is of fundamental importance for the validity of the analysis of the paper. As Annex 1 illustrates for the case of Argentina, most of the news indeed appear to be country-specific and exogenous in the sense that their origin is primarily a domestic and not a foreign one. Moreover, although some of the news may not come entirely unexpected by the markets, at least part of the news and their timing are likely to be unanticipated.

We are also comforted by the fact that the primary source of the data is the IFC and the IMF, and their stated purpose is to identify country-specific events that have large economic relevance, and not primarily those that have a global market impact. For all these arguments, we believe this database provides the best possible identification method for EME-specific shocks in order to conduct our analysis of the impact of EMEs on global equity markets. As we will discuss further below, we also include for a set of "global" shocks in order to control for a possible correlation of EME shocks with other unrelated global developments.

As to the country coverage, the database covers 14 EMEs, four in Latin America (Argentina, Brazil, Chile and Mexico), four in Emerging Europe (Czech Republic, Poland, Russia and Turkey) and six in Asia (India, Indonesia, Korea, Malaysia, Taiwan and Thailand), while the time period is 1 January 2000 to 31 July 2004. This list covers most of the systemically important EMEs, possibly with the exception of China. Hong Kong and Singapore are also not included, partly due to data availability and partly also as they may not be considered as emerging markets any longer given their degree of development and also financial market depth.

Table 1

Table 1 gives a summary for the distribution of the shocks across EMEs. Overall, there are 424 days with shocks for all 14 EMEs over the whole sample period. This means that on average each EME had about 30 shocks over the close to 5-year sample period, or about 6 to 7 shocks per year. While some countries experience significantly more shocks over that period – these are e.g. as expected countries such as Argentina, Mexico and Russia – other have experienced very few shocks that are captured. Moreover, the shocks can mostly relatively easily be classified as political or economic shocks, and as positive or negative shocks. In the few cases where the sign of the news cannot be readily identified, we use the direction of the domestic stock market reaction to sign the news.

Figure 1 shows the distribution of the shocks over time, quarter by quarter since 2000. The key point of this chart is that both positive and negative shocks are distributed relatively equally over time. Hence this underlines that the empirical findings are not driven by individual episodes during the sample period. This point is further investigated and confirmed in section 4 when analyzing the time variations in the transmission of EME shocks.

Figure 1

Equity market returns come from Datastream market price indices. We chose Datastream indices as they have a very broad coverage of stocks within individual markets and are most readily comparable across countries. Datastream market indices are also available for a broad set of countries, thus providing an ideal source for our analysis of equity market spillovers. An additional advantage of Datastream indices is that also sectoral indices are available. We will go into detail about sectoral spillovers as an extension in section 4.¹

The empirical analysis is based on daily financial market data, using closing quotes of the respective national stock markets in local currency. It is important to consider this timing issue in the empirical modeling due to the fact that several equity markets do not have an overlap in trading times so that e.g. yesterday's shocks in Latin American EMEs need to be used to analyze the effects on Asian markets today.

A final caveat is the issue of cross-listing of firms as in particular multinational firms may be listed in several markets simultaneously. Thus, for instance, a strong reaction of a particular market may at least in part reflect such cross-listing. To control for this issue, the ideal way would be to exclude foreign cross-listed firms from domestic equity return indices. Unfortunately, such data is not available for all of the 14 EMEs and 15 mature markets in our sample. A test for those few markets where such information is available, however, suggests that the transmission effects from EMEs are affected only moderately. Part of the explanation for these limited effects is that cross-listing primarily occurs among mature economies, and much less so with EMEs.

4. Empirical Results

This section constitutes the core of the paper, providing the empirical results for the transmission of EME shocks to global equity markets. We start with the benchmark model and results in section 4.1, discuss their economic relevance (section 4.2) and then present several extensions and robustness tests in section 4.3.

4.1 Methodology

As the first step of the analysis, we want to measure the transmission of shocks in emerging market country *j* to the equity market of country *i*. Our benchmark empirical specification looks as follows:

¹ However, there are also some potential drawbacks of Datastream indices, such as that for instance IFC equity indices may in some instances be of higher quality – see e.g. Sarno and Taylor (1999) for a detailed discussion. However, the need for indices that cover a broad set of countries and are directly comparable with one another point to Datastream indices as our preferred choice.

$$r_{it} = \alpha_i + \sum_{j=1}^{14} (\beta_j S_{jt}) + \delta X_{it} + \varepsilon_{it}$$
(1)

which estimates the response of the equity return of country i, r_{it} , to the shocks emanating from the 14 EMEs in the sample, S_{jt} , and to a vector of controls, X_{it} , such as own past returns and day-of-the-week effects. Note that this model is estimated in a panel for all 29 countries *i* in our sample, including a country fixed effect α_i . The model thus yields transmission coefficients β_j for each of the 14 EMEs, which measure the average effects of each of the 14 EMEs on the other 29 countries.²

It is important to emphasize that ideally one would like to control for all other relevant factors in the vector of controls X_{it} which may affect global equity markets, in particular "global" shocks. In order to control for such shocks as much as possible, we include two sets of proxies for global shocks in the vector of controls X_{it} . First, we follow Andersen et al. (2003) and Ehrmann and Fratzscher (2006) and include 10 of the most important US macroeconomic shocks, as measured through the news or unanticipated component of US macroeconomic announcement,³ as a proxy for global economic shocks. Although these macroeconomic shocks are US-based in nature, they have been shown by in the literature to have a substantial effect on global FX and equity markets.

Second, we include a measure of global risk aversion, measured by the Chicago Board Options Exchange's SPX Volatility Index, which reflects a market estimate of future volatility, based on the weighted average of implied volatilities for a wide range of strike prices. The rationale for including this proxy for risk aversion is that the strength in the transmission may differ over time and may in part depend on the overall risk attitude of investors.⁴

An even more general specification of model (1) is one in which we average also across all EME source countries of shocks:

 $^{^{2}}$ Note that we ensure in the estimation that shocks from countries j are excluded when these same countries are included as country i in the estimation.

³ These shocks are the surprise component of the announcements of the 10 US macroeconomic news: monetary policy, GDP advance release, industrial production, CPI, retail sales, trade balance, non-farm payroll employment, ISM business confidence, consumer confidence, and housing starts. The surprise component of each of these variables is calculated as the difference between the announced value and the expected value, where this latter is measured as the median expectation from surveys conducted by Money Market Services (MMS) International.

⁴ As these are controls and not the focus of this paper, the results for these shocks are not shown in the tables below, but are available upon request. Most of the macroeconomic shocks and the risk-aversion proxy are found to exert a statistically significant effect on global and most regional equity markets.

$$r_{it} = \alpha_i + \beta \sum_{j=1}^{14} (S_{jt}) + \delta X_{it} + \varepsilon_{it}$$
(2)

so that in this case β measures the average effect of all EME shocks on equity returns. Alternatively, instead of obtaining the average response of a number of country returns to EME shocks, we extract the effect on each individual equity return r_{it} by estimating for each equity return i separately

$$r_{it} = \alpha + \beta_i \sum_{j=1}^{14} (S_{jt}) + \delta X_{it} + \varepsilon_{it}$$
(3)

to get the average transmission of all 14 EMEs to equity return r_{it} , or

$$r_{it} = \alpha + \sum_{j=1}^{14} (\beta_{ij} S_{jt}) + \delta X_{it} + \varepsilon_{it}$$
(4)

in order to obtain the response of r_{it} to each of the 14 EMEs separately. Note that we use an OLS estimator with panel-corrected standard errors (PCSE) throughout the paper for the estimations in order to take account of and to correct for the heteroskedasticity as well as the cross-sectional correlation in the data. Using such an estimator is important in order to obtain correct variance-covariance matrices as otherwise we would underestimate the true standard errors of the coefficients.

4.2 Benchmark results

Table 2 shows the benchmark result for models (2) and (3) for a select number of global, regional and mature economies' equity markets. The market reaction of "world" shows the β coefficient for model (3) when using the Datastream world market return index. The subsequent rows show the response of regional equity market return indices for Latin America, Emerging Asia and Emerging Europe, as well as the return indices of the large mature markets of the euro area, Japan, UK and the USA. The last row titled "all countries (panel)" shows the panel estimates based on model (2), i.e. indicating the average response of the 29 equity markets in the sample.⁵

⁵ This panel estimate is comparable to the first row of using the world market index itself, only that the 29 countries in our sample do not constitute the whole global equity market – though they account for well over 90% of it – and that they are "unweighted" in the sense that in the panel regression each equity market return r_{it} has an equal influence on the coefficient, i.e. independent of their actual share in global equity market capitalisation.

Table 2

Table 2 indicates that global equity returns react by 0.30% on average in response to a shock in one of the 14 EMEs. Global returns appear to be most sensitive to shocks in the Latin American EMEs, though they also sensitive to shocks in Emerging Asia and in Emerging Europe. The panel estimates in the last row are similar in magnitude when all EME shocks are taken together, giving a point estimate of 0.32%, though there are different responses from the world index to shocks from different regions.

Looking at the response of mature economies sheds light on these different regional effects and provides a number of interesting results. In particular, US, Japanese and European markets react very differently to regional EME shocks. US equity markets change substantially more in response to Latin American than to Asian or Emerging European shocks. By contrast, Japanese markets appear to respond most to Asian shocks, and not at all to shocks emanating from Emerging Europe. The euro area and the UK are very different again in that their reaction is very similar to shocks from all three EME regions. For instance, euro area and UK markets react substantially more to shocks from Emerging Europe then do the United States and Japan.

A final point relates to the reaction of EME stock markets to shocks in other EMEs. Table 2 nicely illustrates that EME equity markets react very strongly to shocks in the own region; this is the case for Latin America (0.59%), Asia (0.41%) and Emerging Europe (0.97%). However, there are some, though more limited cross-regional spillovers also for EMEs.

Table 3

Table 3 shows the full matrix of spillover of the 14 EMEs to the 29 countries, plus the regional averages. As for Table 2, the point estimates of the row called "all countries (panel)" are based on panel estimates of models (1) and (2), while all other estimates are based on individual country regressions of models (3) and (4).

Table 3 confirms the results of Table 2, only that it provides a much more detailed breakdown of the country-by-country transmission of shocks. For instance, the findings in the table confirm that EME spillovers to other EMEs are much stronger within regions than across regions, though cross-regional spillovers do exist and are sometimes sizeable.

An additional interesting point of Table 3 is that it shows the breakdown of the responses of the 12 euro area countries to EME shocks. Apart from Finland – most likely reflecting the technology dependence of the country – the euro area countries with the largest overall reaction to EME shocks are France, Netherlands, Germany and Spain, i.e. countries that are relatively integrated or exposed both financially and in terms of trade to EMEs. The countries with the overall lowest response are Ireland, Luxemburg, Portugal, Greece and Austria.⁶ For many of the euro area countries it is also confirmed that they appear to respond about equally to shocks stemming from any of the three EME regions.

Tables 4 – 6

As the final step of the analysis, we analyze the presence of various asymmetries in the transmission process. In particular, we investigate whether negative EME shocks have a larger effect than positive one. As discussed above, this hypothesis has been emphasized in particular in the literature on financial crises, which frequently suggests that negative EME shocks may have a much larger relevance for mature financial markets. Moreover, we also compare different types of shocks, i.e. political versus economic shocks.

Table 4 shows that negative EME shocks only have a slightly larger effect on the global equity market index (-0.33%) than positive events (0.28%). This underlines that also positive EME developments induce financial spillovers. There are again a number of revealing cross-country differences. Japanese and euro area equity markets, for instance, are even more responsive to positive shocks than to negative EME events, while the opposite is the case for US markets. Another revealing dimension relates to the shocks emanating from different EME regions. Negative shocks in Latin America and Asia appear to have a significantly larger impact than positive news. By contrast, positive shocks emanating from Emerging Europe in all cases have larger spillovers to other regions, including the euro area, than negative shocks.

Table 5 distinguishes between economic and political shocks, showing that there is no substantial difference in the relevance between these types of shocks. Tables 6.a and 6.b then combine the type of news with the direction of the shocks. It appears that in particular negative political news have the largest overall impact on foreign equity markets, though in general again all categories of shocks have significant spillover effects.

⁶ The finding for Austria appears somewhat surprising, especially given the countries financial exposure to several Emerging European countries, though recall that these include only the Czech Republic, Poland, Russia and Turkey in our sample.

In summary, we find significant and sizeable spillovers from EMEs to global equity markets, with world equity returns responding on average 0.3% to EME shocks. The disaggregation of the shocks by source EME and by affected countries shows a highly heterogeneous picture, with mature economies being most sensitive to EME shocks from their own region, with the exception of Europe which appears to be roughly equally responsive to all thee EME regions.

5. Sensitivity

As a final step, this section presents various extensions and robustness checks (section 5.2) and discusses the overall economic relevance of EMEs shocks for global equity markets (section 5.1).

5.1 Economic relevance of EMEs for global equity markets

How permanent and long-lasting are the effects of EME shocks on global equity markets? This is an important question because a key issue of interest is not only whether the effect of EMEs on global financial markets is *statistically* significant, but also whether it is *economically* relevant. From a more general perspective, EME events may have a statistically significant effect on global equity markets on a particular day, but they may in the medium- to long-run – e.g. over several weeks or months – be dominated by other developments, like economic and political developments in mature economies, such that EMEs may play only a small overall role for global equity markets.

This issue is hard to tackle because our data includes only a small, albeit relevant fraction of EME events that affects global financial markets. In other words, our data includes only "shocks", i.e. well identified, mostly *unanticipated* events while many other unanticipated or anticipated EME developments are clearly not captured by our data. This means that it is impossible to determine precisely how much of global equity market movements are explained by developments in EMEs and how much by mature economies or truly common shocks.

As a first test in order to gauge the overall relevance of EME shocks for global markets, an interesting stylized fact is to plot the "net" number of shocks per quarter – subtracting the total number of negative shocks from the total number of positive shocks across all 14 EMEs – together with the global equity market return during that quarter. Figure 2 shows a remarkably high degree of comovement between both, in

particular since the end of 2002. In fact, the correlation coefficient between the two series is 0.70 for the whole sample period. It should be stressed that while this obviously does not necessarily imply causality, it underlines that developments in EMEs strongly co-move with those in global equity markets. While this is merely indicative of the overall importance of EMEs, it appears to be a striking stylized fact of the data.

Figure 2

Given this limitation, and in order to turn to a more formal test, we can gauge the importance of EMEs for global equity markets also by analyzing the *permanence* of the transmission of EME shocks. The intuition is as follows: if EMEs are an important driver of global equity markets *and* if our data captures relevant EME events, then the impact of our EME shocks on global equity markets should be detectable in the data at least for several days or even weeks. We test for this permanence in two alternative ways. First, we estimate a dynamic version of model (3) by including and testing for the lagged effects of EME shocks:

$$r_{it} = \alpha + \sum_{k=0}^{K} \beta_{ik} \sum_{j=1}^{14} (S_{jt-k}) + \delta X_{it} + \varepsilon_{it}$$

$$(5)$$

with k as the number of lags. Figure 3 shows the cumulated coefficients up to 3 months (65 days), while testing the null hypothesis $H_0: \sum_{k=0}^{K} \beta_k = 0$, for the returns of the world equity index, as well as for the United States', the euro area' and the emerging markets' equity indices. The key finding is that there is a high degree of persistence or permanence in the spillover effects of EME shocks. For the world, US and euro area indices the effect increases for a number of days after a shock occurs and then stabilizes. Most importantly, statistically the impact of EME shocks is mostly significant even still after 1 month, or about 20 business days. This is somewhat less the case for the US equity markets, but for which the effects of EME shocks are still statistically significant for up to 10 days, or 2 weeks.

Figures 3-4

A second and alternative way of testing for the permanence of the effects is to use different data frequencies. For this exercise, we repeat the estimation of model (3) using different data frequencies starting with daily data (as in the benchmark model), then moving to two-day frequencies and so on up to using 65-day or quarterly frequency. Figure 4 gives the results again for four of the equity market indices. This second exercise gives us essentially the same results as the first one: the effect of

EME shocks appears to increase slightly in the first few days and then levels off. Again, the key result is that the effect of EME shocks on global equity markets is present in the data even when using quarterly data. Both of the tests underline the overall economic importance of EMEs for global equity markets.

5.2 Extensions and robustness

We now turn to various extensions and robustness tests of the benchmark results. A first important issue is that of time-variations in the transmission process. Do EMEs matter for global equity markets only in some periods rather than others? As discussed above, much of the literature appears to indirectly or directly suggest that EMEs have the largest impact on global markets during financial crises. Recall that our sample period of 2000-2004 had no major EME crisis of systemic importance, especially when compared to the Latin American crisis of 1994-95, the Asian financial crisis of 1997-98, or the Russian default and the LTCM episode in the second half of 1998. Nevertheless, the Argentine default of late 2001 and the Turkish crisis of 2001 were two relevant events during our sample period.

To test for the presence of time variations in the transmission process, we modify the benchmark models (2) and (3) to allow for different spillover coefficients for each of the five years of our data:⁷

$$r_{it} = \alpha_i + \sum_{t=1}^{5} \beta_t D_t \sum_{j=1}^{14} (S_{jt}) + \delta X_{it} + \varepsilon_{it}$$
(6)

with $D_t=1$ for a particular year, and $D_t=0$ otherwise, so that in this case β_t measures the average effect of all EME shocks on global equity returns in year *t*.

Figure 5

Figure 5 plots the coefficients for the panel estimation of model (6). The figure shows a slight decrease in the effects, indicating that the strongest transmission of shocks from EMEs to global equity markets occurred in 2000 and 2001, while the smallest effects are recorded for 2003 and 2004. However, it should be stressed that the transmission is statistically significant and sizeable for all years. Hence EME shocks have continuously exerted an influence on global equity markets throughout the

⁷ Note that using a higher frequency, such as quarterly or even monthly data, is not feasible due to the relative few EME shocks in our dataset at such frequencies.

sample period, amid relatively small variations in the precise magnitude of the transmission. 8

Turning to a second important issue, it is possible that the cross-country difference in the transmission process, as highlighted in Table 3, may in part be explained by the very different sector composition of countries' equity indices. Some sectors, such as the financial or technology sectors may be more open and exposed to foreign developments. Hence countries' stronger reaction to EME shocks may partly reflect the fact that different sectors have different weights in individual countries' equity indices. For instance, the fact that Spain is affected relatively strongly by shocks in Latin America may be explained e.g. by the fact that it is highly integrated financially with many Latin American economies but it could also be due to the fact that Spain's equity market index is dominated by some sectors rather than others.

Table 7

Given the relevance of financial institutions in the transmission process, an obvious hypothesis is that countries where financial institutions are relatively important and constitute a large share of the equity index also respond more strongly to EME shocks. We test this by re-estimating models (2) and (3) using Datastream financial sector sub-indices. Table 7 reveals that we can broadly reject this hypothesis as financial sector returns are generally not more sensitive to EME shocks than the market index as whole (see Table 2). In fact, the overall effect of EME shocks on global financial sector returns is with 0.269% somewhat lower than the impact on the overall market index.

Table 8

Third and finally, we want to check the effect of large and important shocks, and thus restrict the sample to those news that triggered a significant domestic market movement. To determine the threshold, we choose a 1% cut-off, although we conducted robustness tests for the 0.5% and 1.5% cut-offs. We do this to check how the results of the benchmark model change when using a narrower set of shocks. The corresponding Table 8, however, shows that this is not the case and that most spillover coefficients increase significantly for this narrower sample. Indeed, the increase in the magnitude of the transmission is consistent with the argument that news that have a larger effect on the domestic market should also have a greater impact on other markets.

⁸ Note that this pattern of the time variations in the spillover coefficients is not driven by some specific markets' responses, as it is very similar also when looking only at mature economies.

6. Conclusions

How important are emerging markets as drivers of global financial markets? While there is a large literature and plenty of evidence for the role and impact of EMEs during financial crises, much less attention has been paid to the systemic importance of global financial markets overall, including during "normal" or tranquil times. In fact, the last few years have been marked by the absence of major crises or systemic turbulence in EMEs as well as the strong emergence, or re-emergence, of EMEs as a key asset class for investors in mature economies.

This paper has focused on the importance of EMEs for global financial markets by analyzing the transmission of EME shocks to global equity markets. Our database for this analysis has the key advantage of containing largely exogenous shocks that are specific to individual emerging economies. We have estimated the transmission of these shocks to 29 mature economies and emerging markets and find that EME shocks have a statistically and economically significant impact on global equity markets. On average, shocks to the 14 EMEs in our sample move world equity markets by 0.3% on the day they occur. Importantly, the persistence of these effects is found to be remarkably long as the impact of EME shocks is statistically significant even one month after they occur. Moreover, EMEs influence global equity markets not just in "bad" times but also in "good" times. In fact, the average effect of positive shocks stemming from EMEs is in many cases very similar to that of negative events.

A second key result of the paper is that we detect a large degree of heterogeneity in the response of individual countries' equity markets to EME shocks. For mature economies, US equity markets appear to be more sensitive to developments in Latin America than in Emerging Asia or Emerging Europe, while the Japanese market reacts the strongest to shocks elsewhere in Asia. By contrast, an interesting finding is that European (euro area and UK) equity markets appear to be different as they are exposed the strongest and also roughly equally responsive to shocks in all three emerging market regions.

Overall, the findings underline the importance of emerging markets as drivers of global asset price developments in recent years. In many ways, this is what one would expect given the substantial contribution of EMEs to global economic growth and their rapidly increasing clout in global financial markets as investors. Understanding the evolution of EMEs as a global player in financial markets is an important topic from a financial market angle, but also from a policy perspective given their rapid emergence and the rising economic interdependence between mature and emerging market economies.

References

- Albuquerque, R., N. Loayza and L. Servén (2005). World market integration through the lens of foreign direct investors. *Journal of International Economics*, Vol. 66 (2), 267-295.
- Andersen, T., T. Bollerslev, F. X. Diebold and C. Vega (2003) Micro Effects of Macro Announcements: Real-Time Price Discovery in Foreign Exchange. *American Economic Review*, Vol. 93 (1), 38-62.
- Baig, T. and I. Goldfajn (1998). Financial Market Contagion in the Asian Crisis. IMF Working Paper No.98/155.
- Bekaert, G. and C.R. Harvey (1995). Time-Varying World Market Integration. *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 50 (2), 403-444.
- Bekaert, G. and C.R. Harvey (1998). Capital Flows and the Behavior of Emerging Market Equity Returns. NBER Working Paper No. 6669.
- Canova, F. (2005). The Transmission of US Shocks to Latin America. *Journal of Applied Econometrics*, Vol. 20 (2), 229-251.
- Cappiello, L. B. Gérard and S. Manganelli (2005). Measuring comovements by regression quantiles. ECB Working Paper No. 501.
- Christie-David, R. M. Chaudhry and W. Khan (2002). News Releases, Market Integration, and Market Leadership. *Journal of Financial Research*, Vol. 25 (2), 223-245.
- Daude, C. and M. Fratzscher (2006). The pecking order of cross-border investment. ECB Working Paper No. 590.
- Dungey, M.D. and V.L. Martin (2006). Unravelling financial market linkages during crises. *Journal of Applied Econometrics*, forthcoming.
- Durham, J. (2001). Monetary Policy and Stock Price Returns. *Financial Analysts Journal*, Vol. 59 (4), 26-35.
- Ederington, L. and J.H. Lee (1993). The Short-Run Dynamics of the Price Adjustment to New Information. *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis*, Vol. 30 (1), 117-134.
- Ehrmann, M., M. Fratzscher and R. Rigobon (2005). Stocks, Bonds, Money Markets and Exchange Rates: Measuring International Financial Transmission. NBER Working Paper No. 11166.
- Ehrmann, M. and M. Fratzscher (2004). Taking stock: Monetary policy transmission to equity markets, *Journal of Money, Credit and Banking* 36(4): 719-37.
- Ehrmann, M. and M. Fratzscher (2006). Global financial transmission of monetary policy shocks. ECB Working Paper No. 616.
- Eichengreen, B., A.K. Rose, and C. Wyplosz (1996). Contagious currency crises: first tests. *Scandinavian Journal of Economics*, Vol. 98 (4), 463–484.
- Fischer, S. "Reflections on crises". Indian Council for Research on International Economic Relations, New Delhi, January 21, 2002.

- Fleming, M J. and E. M. Remolona, (1999). Price Formation and Liquidity in the U.S. Treasury Market: The Response to Public Information. *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 54 (5), 1901-1915.
- Forbes, K.J. and M. Chinn (2004). A Decomposition of Global Linkages in Financial Markets Over Time, *Review of Economics and Statistics*, Vol. 86 (3), 705-722.
- Forbes, K.J. and R. Rigobon (2002). No Contagion, Only Interdependence: Measuring Stock Market Co-Movements. *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 57 (5), 2223-2261.
- Glick, R. and A. Rose (1999). Contagion and Trade: Why Are Currency Crises Regional? *Journal of International Money and Finance*, Vol. 18 (4), 603-617.
- Goldberg, L. and D. Leonard (2003). What moves sovereign bond markets? The effect of economic news on US and German yields. Current Issues in Economics and Finance, Federal Reserve Bank of New York.
- Goldstein, M., G.L. Kaminsky, and C.M. Reinhart (2000). Assessing financial vulnerability: an early warning system for emerging markets. Institute for International Economics. Washington, D.C.
- Griffin, J.M. and Stulz, R.M., 2001. International Competition and Exchange Rate Shocks: A Cross-Country Industry Analysis of Stock Returns. *Review of Financial Studies* 14 (1), 215-241.
- Hall, S. and A. Taylor (2002). Spillovers from recent emerging market crises: what might account for limited contagion from Argentina?. Bank of England Financial Stability Review, Vol. 12.
- Hamao, Y., Masulis, R.W. and Ng, V. (1990), "Correlations in Price Changes and Volatility Across International Stock Markets," *Review of Financial Studies* 3 (2), 281-307.
- Kaminsky, G.L. and S. Schmukler (1999). What triggers market jitters?: A chronicle of the Asian crisis. *Journal of International Money and Finance*, Vol. 18 (4), 537-560.
- Kaminsky, G.L. and C.M. Reinhart (1999). The twin crises: the causes of banking and balance-of-payments problems. *American Economic Review*, Vol. 89 (3), 473–500.
- Kaminsky, G.L. and C.M. Reinhart (2002). The center and the periphery: tales of financial turmoil. Mimeo, George Washington University, Washington, D.C.
- Kaminsky, G.L. and S. Schmukler (2003). Short-Run Pain, Long-Run Gain: The Effects of Financial Liberalization. IMF Working Paper No. 34.
- Karolyi, G. (2003). Does international financial contagion really exist? *International Finance*, Vol. 6 (2), 179–199.
- Kim, S.J, F. Moshirian and E. Wu (2005). Dynamic stock market integration driven by the European Monetary Union: An empirical analysis. *Journal of Banking & Finance*, Vol. 29 (10), 2475-2502.
- King, M.A. and S. Wadhwani (1990). Transmission of Volatility between Stock Markets. *Review of Financial Studies*, Vol. 3 (1), 5-33.

- King, M.A., E. Sentana and S. Wadhwani (1994). Volatility and the links between national stock markets. *Econometrica*, Vol. 62 (4), 901–934.
- Krueger, A. Crisis Prevention and Resolution: Lessons from Argentina. National Bureau of Economic Research Conference on "The Argentina Crisis". Cambridge, July 17, 2002.
- Lin, W., R.F. Engle and T. Ito (1994). Do bulls and bears move across borders? International transmission of stock returns and volatility. *Review of Financial Studies*, Vol. 7 (3), 507–538.
- Miniane, J. and H. Rogers (2003). Capital Controls and the International Transmission of U.S. Money Shocks. Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System International Finance Discussion Paper No. 778.
- Rigobon, R. (2002). On the measurement of the international propagation of shocks: is the transmission stable? *Journal of International Economics*, Vol. 61 (2), 261-283.
- Wongswan, J. (2003). Transmission of Information Across International Equity Markets. Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System International Finance Discussion Papers No. 759.
- Wongswan, J. (2005) The Response of Global Equity Indexes to U.S. Monetary Policy Announcements. Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System International Finance Discussion Papers No.844.



Appendix

Annex 1: Data description and examples

Date [*]	News
24 February 2000	A strike is called against the labor market reform proposal, stipulating
10 10 1 2000	decentralization of collective labor contracts.
10 March 2000	IMF Board approves Stand-By Arrangement with Argentina.
6 June 2000	A national strike is called. Responding to public depunciations. President De I a Rúa creates a special
17 August 2000	commission chaired by Vice President Carlos Álvarez to investigate the bribery
	charges associated with the Senate approval of the labor reform law.
6 October 2000	Vice President Carlos Álvarez resigns.
5 March 2001	Ricardo López Murphy is appointed Minister of Economy.
29 March 2001	Minister Cavallo secures "emergency powers" from Congress.
16 April 2001	Minister Cavallo announces a modification of the convertibility law, with the
	replacement of the dollar by an equallyweighted basket of the dollar and the euro.
26 April 2001	The Central Bank Governor is replaced over alleged money laundering charges.
8 May 2001	A national strike is called against the labor reform.
11 July 2001	Standard & Poor's lowers Argentina's long-term sovereign rating further from B+
	to B.
21 August 2001	A zero deficit plan is announced, with a mandatory reduction in expenditures to
2 December 2001	balance the budget.
5 December 2001	The government introduces a partial denosit fraeze (corralito) and capital controls
0 December 2001	The government introduces a partial deposit neeze (corranto) and capital controls.
10 December 2001	Minister Cavallo travels to the United States to meet with IMF management.
19 December 2001	Minister Cavallo resigns.
20 December 2001	President Fernando De La Rúa resigns over death of demonstrators. Ramón Puerta,
2 January 2002	President of the Senate, becomes interim President.
5 January 2002	dual foreign exchange regime
7 January 2002	The convertibility law ceases to be in effect. A dual exchange rate regime is
	introduced, one fixed at 1.40 pesos to a dollar for foreign trade, and the other
	determined in the free market.
8 March 2002	The pesoization of government debt under Argentine law is decreed.
5 March 2003	The Supreme Court ruled that conversion to pesos was illegal. According to the
	Central Bank, approximately to 8,760 million US dollars are at stake. ^{a17}
10 September 2003	Argentine finance officials reached an agreement with the IMF for a three-year, US\$ 12.6 billion stand-by credit. Under the terms of the new arrangement, the
	government pledges to raise the consolidated primary fiscal surplus
14 June 2004	Roberto Lavagna sent a "fiscal responsibility" bill to Congress to set limits on
	spending by provincial governments.
2 July 2004	Argentina obtained regulatory approval in the U.S. for a debt exchange to
	restructure some \$100 billion in defaulted debt.

Source: Factiva, Datastream Bekaert and Campbell (2004) and Independent Evaluation Office, International Monetary Fund (2004). *The IMF and Argentina, 1991–2001*.



Figure 1: Distribution of EME shocks over time

Notes: The figure shows the cumulated positive and negative shocks in a quarterly basis.

Figure 2: EME shocks and global equity returns – 3-months cumulated





Notes: The figure shows the cumulated net shocks (cumulated difference between positive and negative shocks) and the cumulated stock market return in a quarterly basis.

Figure 3: Shock transmission to World, US, Euro Area and EMEs – cumulated dynamic effects up to 3 months (65 days)



Notes: The figure is based on model (5) and shows the cumulated coefficients up to k days, testing the null hypothesis $H_0: \sum_{k=0}^{k} \beta_k = 0$, for the returns of the world equity index, as well as for the United States', the euro area' and the emerging markets' equity indices. The dotted lines show the 90% confidence intervals.





Notes: The figure is based on model (3) for different data frequencies ranging from 1 day to 65 days, showing the transmission coefficient β for the returns of the world equity index, as well as for the United States', the euro area' and the emerging markets' equity indices. The dotted lines show the 90% confidence intervals.

Figure 5: Asymmetry of shock transmission – changes over time



Notes: The figure is based on model (6) estimated with annual dummies.

Table	1:	Summary	statistics
-------	----	---------	------------

		Shocks		Eco	nomic sho	ocks	Po	litical shoc	ks
	Total	Positive	Negative	Total	Positive	Negative	Total	Positive	Negative
Emerging markets	424	204	220	308	152	156	176	80	96
Latin America: Argentina Brazil Chile	214 58 39 38	113 24 22 22	101 34 17 16	146 29 34 20	77 11 19 14	69 18 15 6	76 29 5 18	39 13 3 8	37 16 2 10
Mexico Emerging Asia: India Indonesia Korea Malaysia Taiwan	92 152 48 35 40 21 31	50 67 19 10 21 9 17	42 85 29 25 19 12 14	67 99 27 16 19 12 20	35 45 12 4 10 4 11	32 54 15 12 9 8 9	25 55 21 19 21 9 11	15 23 7 6 11 5 6	10 32 14 13 10 4 5
Thailand Emerging Europe: Czech Republic Poland Russia Turkey	26 168 28 56 77 24	15 81 14 30 32 13	11 87 14 26 45 11	24 123 15 44 56 15	14 61 9 24 22 8	10 62 6 20 34 7	2 55 13 12 21 9	1 24 5 6 10 3	1 31 6 11 6

Notes: The table shows the number of news, economic news and political news recorded for each country and region.

Sources: IMF; IFC; Bekaert and Harvey (1998, 2002); Factiva.

Table 2: Transmission of EME shocks – all shocks, by region

Event shock to:	All 1 EME	4 s	Latir Americ	n a 4	Emerg Asia	ing 6	Emerg Europe	ing e 4
Market reaction of:	coef.	std.err.	coef.	std.err.	coef.	std.err.	coef.	std.err.
World	0.300 ***	0.04	0.362 ***	0.06	0.149 **	0.07	0.268 ***	0.07
Latin America	0.402 ***	0.06	0.592 ***	0.07	0.101	0.09	0.315 ***	0.10
Emerging Asia	0.302 ***	0.05	0.220 ***	0.07	0.407 ***	0.09	0.234 ***	0.08
Emerging Europe	0.635 ***	0.08	0.400 ***	0.10	0.329 ***	0.13	0.966 ***	0.16
Euro area	0.354 ***	0.06	0.307 ***	0.08	0.278 ***	0.11	0.373 ***	0.10
Japan	0.216 ***	0.07	0.238 ***	0.10	0.212 *	0.12	0.072	0.11
United Kingdom	0.318 ***	0.05	0.315 ***	0.07	0.234 ***	0.10	0.292 ***	0.10
United States	0.328 ***	0.06	0.457 ***	0.08	0.107	0.10	0.271 ***	0.10
All countries (panel)	0.323 ***	0.03	0.274 ***	0.04	0.263 ***	0.04	0.334 ***	0.05

Transmission of EME shocks, all shocks by region

Notes: The table shows the transmission coefficients for EME shocks based on models (1)-(4). ***, **, * indicate statistical significance at the 99%, 95%, and 90% levels.

Table 3: Transmission of EME shocks – by country

Event shock to:	1	Aggre	gate	2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2		Latin Am	erica 4				Emerging	Asia 6				Emerging l	Europe 4	
	EMEs	America 4	Asia 6	Europe 4	Argentina	Brazil	Chile	Mexico	India	Indonesia	Korea	Malaysia	Taiwan	Thailand C	Zech Rep.	Poland	Russia	Turkey
Market reaction of:																		
World Latin America	0.300 *** 0.402 ***	0.362 *** 0.592 ***	0.149 ** 0.101	0.268 *** 0.315 ***	0.151 0.427 ***	0.378 *** 0.952 ***	0.201 0.375 **	0.520 *** 0.617 ***	0.274 *** 0.305 **	0.093 0.146	0.101 0.126	-0.081 -0.238	0.246 -0.010	0.186 0.144	0.293 * 0.444 **	0.100 0.064	0.260 *** 0.266 ***	0.571 *** 0.926 ***
Emerging Asia	0.302 ***	0.220 ***	0.407 ***	0.234 ***	0.092	0.007	0.520 ***	0.317 ***	0.426 ***	0.314	0.676 ***	0.189	0.754 ***	0.389 ***	0.511 ***	0.093	0.175	0.378 *
Emerging Europe	0.635 ***	0.400 ***	0.329 ***	0.966 ***	0.358 *	0.512 **	0.160	0.388 ***	0.153	0.700 **	0.224	0.204	0.479	0.182	0.457	0.299	0.933 ***	3.177 ***
Euro area	0.354 ***	0.307 ***	0.278 ***	0.373 ***	-0.049	0.397 ***	0.107	0.571 ***	0.115	0.354 *	0.205	-0.049	0.692 ***	0.432 **	0.502 **	0.247	0.330 ***	0.543 *
Japan	0.216	0.238	0.212	0.072	-0.016	0.047	0.601	0.279	0.197	0.107	0.635	0.587	0.056	0.260	-0.062	0.033	0.124	0.048
United Kingdom United States	0.328 ***	0.457 ***	0.107	0.232	0.109 0.254 *	0.340	0.240 0.128	0.633 ***	0.231	0.204 -0.052	-0.099	-0.035 -0.131	0.104	0.120	0.309 0.273	0.238 0.051	0.331	0.796 ***
All countries (panel	0.323 ***	0.274 ***	0.263 ***	0.334 ***	0.130	0.273 ***	0.232 ***	0.374 ***	0.180 ***	0.385 ***	0.297 ***	0.111 **	0.412 ***	0.308 ***	0.396 ***	0.149 ***	0.317 ***	0.728 ***
Latin America: Argentina	0.377 ***	0.826 ***	0.019	0.062	2,412 ***	0.175	0.449	0.234	0.035	0.280	0.220	0.619	-0.268	-0.402	-0.041	-0.563 *	0.561 ***	0.262
Brazil	0.508 ***	0.642 ***	0.136	0.496 ***	0.405 *	1.419 ***	0.358	0.557 ***	0.353	0.216	0.239	-0.552	0.216	0.120	0.765 **	0.135	0.393 **	1.312 **
Chile	0.243 ***	0.348 ***	0.074	0.214 ***	0.008	0.521 ***	0.657 ***	0.369 ***	0.118	0.081	0.066	0.114	0.281*	-0.166	0.315 ***	0.182	0.165	0.452 *
INIEXICO	COC.0	1 co.0	6/0.0	0.100	0.342	0.742	0.230	1.65.0	C/C.0	0.000	0.034	-0.102	-0303	000.0	0.130	-0.020	0.140	0.000
Emerging Asia: India	0 288 ***	0 082	0.510 ***	0.311 ***	-0.511 ***	0.308	0.584	0 195	1 286 ***	0 267	0.513 *	-0.223	060.0	0 427 *	0.697 ***	-0.006	0 496 ***	-0 209
Indonesia	0.311 ***	-0.006	0.724 ***	0.235	-0.071	-0.644 **	0.492 *	0.172	0.461 *	2.236 ***	0.604 **	-0.085	0.370	0.225	-0.125	0.239	0.235	0.382
Korea	0.368 ***	0.292 **	0.413 **	0.289 *	0.252	-0.104	0.432	0.483 ***	0.381	0.296	1.577 ***	0.327	0.784 *	0.441	0.764 **	-0.001	0.193	0.683
Malaysia	0.087 *	-0.035	0.179 **	0.131 *	-0.124	-0.199	0.191	0.034	0.082	0.255	0.037	0.502 ***	0.312	-0.031	0.078	0.093	0.082	0.355 ***
l aiwan Thailand	0.335	0.258	0.612	0.137 0.264 *	0.145 -0.148	-0.115 -0.050	0.596 ***	0.461	0.309 -0.102	0.067 0.287	0.737 0.821	0.448 0.445	2.094 0.110	0.414 1.133 ***	0.250 0.449 *	0.054 0.211	-0.006 0.221	0.685 0.234
Emerging Europe:	11 FEC 0							077										
UZECN KEPUDIIC	1.12.0	0.0754 ***	C02.0	0.376 ***	0.142	0.142	-0.294	0.118	0.233	0.594	0.290	0.203	0.154	0.153	1.330	0.110	0.370 ***	0.173
Russia	0.723 ***	0.587 ***	0.400	0.946 ***	0.530 ***	0.865 ***	0.231	0.531 ***	0.451 *	0.579	0.268	0.156	0.768 **	-0.062	0.190	0.120	1.389 ***	1.870 ***
Turkey	0.780 ***	0.300	0.409	1.410 ***	0.259	0.226	0.446	0.265	-0.552	1.184 **	-0.095	0.072	0.879	1.007	1.167	0.420	0.432	7.728 ***
Euro area: Austria	0.016	-0.063	0.046	0.080	-0.157	0.047	260.0-	-0.087	-0 115	0 174	0 136	020 0-	0 153	0.251 **	0 187	0 041	0.063	0 108
Belgium	0.211 ***	0.240 ***	0.066	0.220 ***	0.037	0.206	0.148	0.386 ***	0.014	0.187	-0.019	0.017	0.275	0.025	0.444 *	0.200	0.229 *	-0.117
Finland	0.616	0.461	0.677	0.524	-0.022	0.808	-0.088	0.750	0.289	0.823	0.894 ***	-0.058	1.500 ***	0.781	0.838	0.092	0.345	1.626 ***
France Germanv	0.381 ***	0.356 ***	0.217 *	0.455 ***	-0.046	0.513 ***	0.065	0.652 ***	0.106 0.106	0.234	0.180	0.033 -0.419	0.761 ***	0.469 ***	0.619 **	0.359 **	0.364 ***	0.670 ***
Greece	0.203 ***	0.218 ***	0.123	0.243 **	0.231	0.084	-0.031	0.379 ***	0.141	0.385	0.305	0.107	-0.085	0.181	0.213	0.218	0.362 ***	0.046
Ireland	0.154 ***	0.061	0.147	0.226 ***	-0.245	0.264	-0.038	0.230 ***	0.036	0.259	-0.053	0.212	0.263	0.210	0.025	0.140	0.302	0.463
Italy	0.285 ***	0.155 *	0.322 ***	0.334 ***	-0.168	0.268 *	-0.029	0.397 ***	0.120	0.433	0.021	0.071	0.708	0.392	0.397	0.197	0.341	0.481
Netherlands	0.358 ***	0.340 ***	0.247 **	0.362 ***	0.000	0.142 0.318 *	0.204	0.637 ***	-0.101 0.072	0.229	-0.299 0.173	0.099	0.653 0.653	0.467	0.431	0.341	0.333 0.333	-0.322 0.392
Portugal	0.131 ***	0.085	0.122	0.158 **	-0.037	0.108	0.018	0.125	0.077	0.144	0.201	-0.094	0.272	0.203	0.411	0.053	0.158	0.219
opani	176.0	200.0	0.243	120.0	700.0	0.432	-0.000	0.018	CCU.U	0.420	1 67.0	0.133	0.47.0	0.540	0.230	U. 132	0.340	0.000

Notes: The table shows the transmission coefficients for EME shocks based on models (1)-(4). ***, **, * indicate statistical significance at the 99%, 95%, and 90% levels.

34

			Positive sl	hocks				
Event shock to:	All 1 EME	4 Es	Latin Americ	n :a 4	Emerg Asia	ing 6	Emerg Europe	ing e 4
Market reaction of:	coef.	std.err.	coef.	std.err.	coef.	std.err.	coef.	std.err.
World	0.284 ***	0.06	0.272 ***	0.08	-0.008	0.09	0.378 ***	0.10
Latin America	0.446 ***	0.09	0.589 ***	0.10	-0.007	0.14	0.404 ***	0.14
Emerging Asia	0.321 ***	0.07	0.242 ***	0.09	0.338 ***	0.12	0.278 ***	0.11
Emerging Europe	0.802 ***	0.11	0.674 ***	0.13	0.100	0.15	1.108 ***	0.20
Euro area	0.381 ***	0.08	0.285 ***	0.11	0.182	0.15	0.490 ***	0.13
Japan	0.249 ***	0.10	0.304 **	0.13	0.112	0.18	0.143	0.15
United Kingdom	0.289 ***	0.08	0.288 ***	0.11	0.060	0.12	0.318 ***	0.12
United States	0.299 ***	0.09	0.305 ***	0.12	-0.080	0.13	0.410 ***	0.16
All countries (panel)	0.332 ***	0.04	0.286 ***	0.04	0.132 ***	0.04	0.393 ***	0.06
			Negative s	hocks				
Event shock to:	All 1 EME	4 Es	Latiı Americ	n :a 4	Emerg Asia	ing 6	Emerg Europe	ing e 4

Table 4: Asymmetries of transmission – positive versus negative shocks

Notes: The table shows the transmission coefficients for EME shocks based on models (1)-(4), but further distinguishing between positive and negative shocks. ***, **, * indicate statistical significance at the 99%, 95%, and 90% levels.

coef.

-0.464 ***

-0.595 ***

-0.332 ***

-0.346 ***

-0.630 ***

-0.261 *** 0.05

-0.196 *

-0.090

-0.164

std.err.

0.08

0.11

0.11

0.16

0.12

0.17

0.10

0.12

coef.

-0.189

-0.275 ***

-0.462 ***

-0.515 ***

-0.354 **

-0.292 *

-0.258 *

-0.373 ***

-0.369 *** 0.04

std.err.

0.11

0.13

0.14

0.21

0.16

0.16

0.15

0.15

coef.

-0.148

-0.187

-0.245

0.005

-0.264 *

-0.270 ***

-0.121

-0.219 *

-0.811 ***

std.err.

0.09

0.13

0.13

0.23

0.15

0.16

0.15

0.12

0.05

Market reaction of:

World

Latin America

Emerging Asia

Euro area

Japan

Emerging Europe

United Kingdom

All countries (panel)

United States

coef.

-0.331 ***

-0.368 ***

-0.289 ***

-0.480 ***

-0.338 ***

-0.181 *

-0.361 ***

-0.380 ***

-0.320 *** 0.03

std.err.

0.06

0.08

0.08

0.12

0.09

0.11

0.09

0.09

Table 5: Asymmetries of transmission – political versus economic shocks

		Political s	shocks				
Event shock to:	All 14 EMEs	Lati Ameri	n ca 4	Emerg Asia	ing 6	Emerg Europe	ing e 4
Market reaction of:	coef. st	td.err. coef.	std.err.	coef.	std.err.	coef.	std.err.
World Latin America Emerging Asia Emerging Europe Euro area Japan United Kingdom	0.291 **** 0. 0.501 **** 0. 0.321 **** 0. 0.445 *** 0. 0.257 *** 0. 0.123 0. 0. 0.282 *** 0.	.06 0.309 **** .08 0.629 **** .08 0.355 **** .11 0.347 ** .09 0.248 * .10 0.103 .08	0.09 0.11 0.13 0.17 0.13 0.16 0.11	0.230 ** 0.205 0.390 *** 0.379 * 0.204 0.143 0.235 *	0.11 0.13 0.13 0.21 0.16 0.20 0.14	0.260 *** 0.529 *** 0.176 0.496 *** 0.245 0.020 0.217	0.11 0.15 0.15 0.19 0.18 0.16 0.16
United States All countries (panel)	0.367 *** 0. 0.274 *** 0.	.09 0.425 *** .03 0.266 ***	0.12 0.05	0.277 0.256 ***	0.17 0.04	0.328 ** 0.242 ***	0.15 0.04
		Economic	shocks				
Event shock to:	All 14 EMEs	Lati Ameri	n ca 4	Emerg Asia	ing 6	Emerg Europe	ing e 4
Market reaction of:	coef. st	td.err. coef.	std.err.	coef.	std.err.	coef.	std.err.
World Latin America Emerging Asia Emerging Europe Euro area Japan United Kingdom United States	0.288 *** 0. 0.327 *** 0. 0.296 *** 0. 0.696 *** 0. 0.388 *** 0. 0.220 *** 0. 0.321 *** 0. 0.293 *** 0.	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	0.07 0.09 0.08 0.11 0.09 0.13 0.09 0.10	0.100 0.045 0.419 *** 0.300 * 0.312 ** 0.239 * 0.215 * 0.012	0.09 0.12 0.12 0.17 0.14 0.13 0.13 0.12	0.261 *** 0.224 * 0.259 *** 1.167 *** 0.409 *** 0.089 0.325 *** 0.238 **	0.08 0.12 0.10 0.20 0.12 0.13 0.11 0.12
All countries (panel)	0.333 *** 0.	.03 0.265 ***	0.04	0.264 ***	0.04	0.373 ***	0.06

Notes: The table shows the transmission coefficients for EME shocks based on models (1)-(4), but further distinguishing between economic and political shocks. ***, **, * indicate statistical significance at the 99%, 95%, and 90% levels.



Table 6.a:Asymmetries of transmission – positive economic versusnegative economic shocks

Positive economic shocks

Event shock to:	All 1 EME	4 cs	Latin Americ	n :a 4	Emerg Asia	ing 6	Emerg Europe	ing e 4
Market reaction of:	coef.	std.err.	coef.	std.err.	coef.	std.err.	coef.	std.err.
World	-0.307 ***	0.07	-0.511 ***	0.09	-0.174	0.14	-0.153	0.11
Latin America	-0.334 ***	0.10	-0.564 ***	0.13	-0.145	0.17	-0.219	0.16
Emerging Asia	-0.279 ***	0.09	-0.148	0.11	-0.486 ***	0.19	-0.202	0.15
Emerging Europe	-0.585 ***	0.15	-0.115	0.17	-0.525 *	0.27	-1.085 ***	0.30
Euro area	-0.383 ***	0.11	-0.384 ***	0.14	-0.307	0.20	-0.377 **	0.19
Japan	-0.081	0.13	-0.190	0.20	-0.192	0.19	0.157	0.21
United Kingdom	-0.386 ***	0.10	-0.412 ***	0.12	-0.240	0.20	-0.434 **	0.19
United States	-0.339 ***	0.10	-0.695 ***	0.14	-0.106	0.18	-0.084	0.14
All countries (panel)	0.334 ***	0.05	0.313 ***	0.04	0.181 ***	0.06	0.370 ***	0.07

Negative economic shocks Event shock to: All 14 Latin Emerging Emerging **EMEs** America 4 Asia 6 Europe 4 Market reaction of: coef. std.err. coef. std.err. coef. std.err. coef. std.err. 0.267 *** 0.250 ** 0.355 *** World 0.08 0.11 0.008 0.12 0.12 0.316 *** 0.530 *** Latin America 0.10 0.13 -0.079 0.17 0.235 0.16 0.310 *** 0.309 *** 0.192 * 0.338 ** 0.16 **Emerging Asia** 0.08 0.12 0.13 0.798 *** 0.644 *** 1.243 *** **Emerging Europe** 0.18 0.14 0.16 0.021 0.27 0.391 *** 0.10 0.286 ** 0.438 *** Euro area 0.14 0.319 0.21 0.15 0.353 *** Japan 0.11 0.362 ** 0.17 0.298 0.19 0.299 * 0.17 United Kingdom 0.256 *** 0.235 * 0.09 0.239 * 0.13 0.185 0.17 0.14 United States 0.245 ** 0.237 0.373 ** 0.19 0.11 0.15 -0.105 0.16 All countries (panel) -0.327 *** 0.04 -0.273 *** 0.07 -0.327 *** 0.05 -0.323 *** 0.06

Notes: The table shows the transmission coefficients for EME shocks based on models (1)-(4), but further distinguishing between positive economic and negative economic shocks. ***, **, * indicate statistical significance at the 99%, 95%, and 90% levels.

Table 6.b: Asymmetries of transmission – positive political versusnegative political shocks

Event shock to:	All 1 EME	4 s	Latii Americ	n a 4	Emerg Asia	ing 6	Emergi Europe	ing e 4
Market reaction of:	coef.	std.err.	coef.	std.err.	coef.	std.err.	coef.	std.err.
World	0.222 ***	0.08	0.260 **	0.12	-0.011	0.14	0.365 ***	0.14
Latin America	0.592 ***	0.12	0.682 ***	0.14	0.132	0.23	0.795 ***	0.23
Emerging Asia	0.285 ***	0.10	0.314 **	0.14	0.338 *	0.19	0.186	0.18
Emerging Europe	0.507 ***	0.13	0.604 ***	0.20	0.256	0.26	0.571 ***	0.13
Euro area	0.244 **	0.12	0.221	0.17	-0.039	0.21	0.527 ***	0.20
Japan	-0.050	0.14	0.101	0.20	-0.188	0.32	-0.244	0.22
United Kingdom	0.270 ***	0.11	0.310 *	0.16	-0.122	0.15	0.460 ***	0.19
United States	0.286 ***	0.12	0.379 **	0.17	-0.003	0.19	0.422 *	0.22
All countries (panel)	0.251 ***	0.05	0.282 ***	0.07	0.098 *	0.05	0.326 ***	0.07

Positive political shocks

		Ne	gative politi	cal shock	\$			
Event shock to:	All 1 EME	4 Es	Latii Americ	n ca 4	Emerg Asia	ing 6	Emerg Europe	ing e 4
Market reaction of:	coef.	std.err.	coef.	std.err.	coef.	std.err.	coef.	std.err.
World	-0.353 ***	0.10	-0.399 ***	0.14	-0.413 ***	0.16	-0.176	0.18
Latin America	-0.410 ***	0.11	-0.609 ***	0.17	-0.260	0.17	-0.304	0.20
Emerging Asia	-0.350 ***	0.13	-0.418 *	0.23	-0.431 ***	0.18	-0.173	0.23
Emerging Europe	-0.376 **	0.19	-0.067	0.28	-0.472	0.30	-0.461	0.36
Euro area	-0.263 *	0.15	-0.309	0.21	-0.389 *	0.23	-0.009	0.29
Japan	-0.284 *	0.16	-0.128	0.27	-0.393	0.26	-0.250	0.22
United Kingdom	-0.290 **	0.13	-0.236	0.17	-0.508 ***	0.20	-0.014	0.26
United States	-0.438 ***	0.13	-0.518 ***	0.19	-0.490 **	0.25	-0.252	0.22
All countries (panel)	-0.291 ***	0.03	-0.268 ***	0.04	-0.375 ***	0.05	-0.179 ***	0.05

Notes: The table shows the transmission coefficients for EME shocks based on models (1)-(4), but further distinguishing between positive political and negative political shocks. ***, **, * indicate statistical significance at the 99%, 95%, and 90% levels.

Event shock to:	All 1 EME	4 s	Latir Americ	n a 4	Emergi Asia	ing 6	Emergi Europe	ng e 4
Market reaction of:	coef.	std.err.	coef.	std.err.	coef.	std.err.	coef.	std.err.
World	0.269 ***	0.04	0.226 ***	0.06	0.202 ***	0.08	0.271 ***	0.07
Latin America	0.415 ***	0.06	0.562 ***	0.09	0.188 *	0.10	0.259 ***	0.10
Emerging Asia	0.227 ***	0.05	0.095	0.07	0.297 ***	0.09	0.306 ***	0.08
Emerging Europe	0.550 ***	0.10	0.255 **	0.12	0.344 **	0.18	0.900 ***	0.19
Euro area	0.269 ***	0.06	0.161 *	0.09	0.252 **	0.12	0.324 ***	0.10
Japan	0.200 **	0.09	0.147	0.13	0.207	0.15	0.143	0.14
United Kingdom	0.297 ***	0.06	0.224 ***	0.09	0.271 **	0.12	0.294 ***	0.11
United States	0.322 ***	0.06	0.330 ***	0.09	0.172	0.11	0.295 ***	0.11
All countries (panel)	0.277 ***	0.03	0.183 ***	0.05	0.253 ***	0.05	0.327 ***	0.05

Table 7: Extension – financial sector

Notes: The table shows the transmission coefficients for EME shocks based on models (1)-(4), focusing only on the Datastream financial sector return indices. ***, **, * indicate statistical significance at the 99%, 95%, and 90% levels.

Event shock to:	All 14 EMEs		Latin America 4		Emerging Asia 6		Emerging Europe 4	
Market reaction of:	coef.	std.err.	coef.	std.err.	coef.	std.err.	coef.	std.err.
World	0.496 ***	0.06	0.684 ***	0.09	0.323 ***	0.09	0.422 ***	0.10
Latin America	0.715 ***	0.08	1.141 ***	0.12	0.359 ***	0.12	0.525 ***	0.14
Emerging Asia	0.542 ***	0.08	0.395 ***	0.13	0.903 ***	0.15	0.383 ***	0.13
Emerging Europe	1.120 ***	0.14	0.701 ***	0.20	0.658 ***	0.18	1.795 ***	0.27
Euro area	0.618 ***	0.08	0.629 ***	0.12	0.558 ***	0.14	0.626 ***	0.14
Japan	0.320 ***	0.10	0.345 **	0.17	0.440 ***	0.17	0.170	0.17
United Kingdom	0.586 ***	0.08	0.590 ***	0.12	0.544 ***	0.12	0.583 ***	0.13
United States	0.534 ***	0.09	0.905 ***	0.13	0.189	0.14	0.426 ***	0.14
All countries (panel)	0.573 ***	0.06	0.570 ***	0.08	0.538 ***	0.08	0.572 ***	0.10

Table 8: Extension – "important" shocks

Notes: The table shows the transmission coefficients for EME shocks based on models (1)-(4), focusing on "important" shocks, i.e. only on those news that moved the domestic equity market by 1% or more. ***, **, * indicate statistical significance at the 99%, 95%, and 90% levels.

European Central Bank Working Paper Series

For a complete list of Working Papers published by the ECB, please visit the ECB's website (http://www.ecb.int)

- 691 "The yield curve as a predictor and emerging economies" by A. Mehl, November 2006.
- 692 "Bayesian inference in cointegrated VAR models: with applications to the demand for euro area M3" by A. Warne, November 2006.
- 693 "Evaluating China's integration in world trade with a gravity model based benchmark" by M. Bussière and B. Schnatz, November 2006.
- 694 "Optimal currency shares in international reserves: the impact of the euro and the prospects for the dollar" by E. Papaioannou, R. Portes and G. Siourounis, November 2006.
- 695 "Geography or skills: What explains Fed watchers' forecast accuracy of US monetary policy?" by H. Berger, M. Ehrmann and M. Fratzscher, November 2006.
- 696 "What is global excess liquidity, and does it matter?" by R. Rüffer and L. Stracca, November 2006.
- 697 "How wages change: micro evidence from the International Wage Flexibility Project" by W.T. Dickens, L. Götte, E. L. Groshen, S. Holden, J. Messina, M. E. Schweitzer, J. Turunen, and M. E. Ward, November 2006.
- 698 "Optimal monetary policy rules with labor market frictions" by E. Faia, November 2006.
- 699 "The behaviour of producer prices: some evidence from the French PPI micro data" by E. Gautier, December 2006.
- 700 "Forecasting using a large number of predictors: Is Bayesian regression a valid alternative to principal components?" by C. De Mol, D. Giannone and L. Reichlin, December 2006.
- 701 "Is there a single frontier in a single European banking market?" by J.W.B.Bos and H. Schmiedel, December 2006.
- 702 "Comparing financial systems: a structural analysis" by S. Champonnois, December 2006.
- 703 "Comovements in volatility in the euro money market" by N. Cassola and C. Morana, December 2006.
- 704 "Are money and consumption additively separable in the euro area? A non-parametric approach" by B. E. Jones and L. Stracca, December 2006.
- 705 "What does a technology shock do? A VAR analysis with model-based sign restrictions" by L. Dedola and S. Neri, December 2006.
- 706 "What drives investors' behaviour in different FX market segments? A VAR-based return decomposition analysis" by O. Castrén, C. Osbat and M. Sydow, December 2006.
- 707 "Ramsey monetary policy with labour market frictions" by E. Faia, January 2007.
- 708 "Regional housing market spillovers in the US: lessons from regional divergences in a common monetary policy setting" by I.Vansteenkiste, January 2007.



- 709 "Quantifying and sustaining welfare gains from monetary commitment" by P. Levine, P. McAdam and J. Pearlman, January 2007.
- 710 "Pricing of settlement link services and mergers of central securities depositories" by J. Tapking, January 2007.
- 711 "What "hides" behind sovereign debt ratings?" by A. Afonso, P. Gomes and P. Rother, January 2007.
- 712 "Opening the black box: structural factor models with large cross-sections" by M. Forni, D. Giannone, M. Lippi and L. Reichlin, January 2007.
- 713 "Balance of payment crises in emerging markets: How early were the "early" warning signals?" by M. Bussière, January 2007.
- 714 "The dynamics of bank spreads and financial structure" by R. Gropp, C. Kok Sørensen and J.-D. Lichtenberger, January 2007.
- 715 "Emerging Asia's growth and integration: How autonomous are business cycles?" by R. Rüffer, M. Sánchez and J.-G. Shen, January 2007.
- 716 "Adjusting to the euro" by G. Fagan and V. Gaspar, January 2007.
- 717 "Discretion rather than rules? When is discretionary policy-making better than the timeless perspective?" by S. Sauer, January 2007.
- 718 "Drift and breaks in labor productivity" by L. Benati, January 2007.
- 719 "US imbalances: the role of technology and policy" by R. Bems, L. Dedola and F. Smets, January 2007.
- 720 "Real price wage rigidities in a model with matching frictions" by K. Kuester, February 2007.
- 721 "Are survey-based inflation expectations in the euro area informative?" by R. Mestre, February 2007.
- 722 "Shocks and frictions in US business cycles: a Bayesian DSGE approach" by F. Smets and R. Wouters, February 2007.
- 723 "Asset allocation by penalized least squares" by S. Manganelli, February 2007.
- 724 "The transmission of emerging market shocks to global equity markets" by L. Cuadro Sáez, M. Fratzscher and C. Thimann, February 2007.



